
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format or language, please call Paul James, Democratic Services 
Officer on 01432 260460 or e-mail pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 

 
 
AGENDA 
 
Environment Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

 

Date: Tuesday 13 July 2010 

Time: 2.00 pm 

Place: The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul James, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01432 260460 
Email: pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 
 



 

GUIDANCE ON DECLARING PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 
 

The Council’s Members’ Code of Conduct requires Councillors to declare against an Agenda item(s) 
the nature of an interest and whether the interest is personal or prejudicial.  Councillors have to decide 
first whether or not they have a personal interest in the matter under discussion.  They will then have to 
decide whether that personal interest is also prejudicial. 

  
A personal interest is an interest that affects the Councillor more than most other people in the area.  
People in the area include those who live, work or have property in the area of the Council.  Councillors 
will also have a personal interest if their partner, relative or a close friend, or an organisation that they 
or the member works for, is affected more than other people in the area.  If they do have a personal 
interest, they must declare it but can stay and take part and vote in the meeting.   

 

Whether an interest is prejudicial is a matter of judgement for each Councillor.  What Councillors have 
to do is ask themselves whether a member of the public – if he or she knew all the facts – would think 
that the Councillor’s interest was so important that their decision would be affected by it.  If a Councillor 
has a prejudicial interest then they must declare what that interest is.  A Councillor who has declared a 
prejudicial interest at a meeting may nevertheless be able to address that meeting, but only in 
circumstances where an ordinary member of the public would be also allowed to speak.  In such 
circumstances, the Councillor concerned will have the same opportunity to address the meeting and on 
the same terms.  However, a Councillor exercising their ability to speak in these circumstances must 
leave the meeting immediately after they have spoken. 
 

 

Agenda for the Meeting of the Environment 
Scrutiny Committee 
  
Membership  
  

Chairman Councillor RI Matthews 
Vice-Chairman Councillor PJ Watts 
  

Councillor WU Attfield  
Councillor CM Bartrum  
Councillor DJ Benjamin  
Councillor DW Greenow  
Councillor JW Hope MBE  
Councillor TW Hunt  
Councillor PM Morgan  
Councillor A Seldon  
Councillor NL Vaughan  
  

 
  

 
 

   



 
HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL  13 JULY 2010 

 

 

AGENDA 
 Pages 
  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES (IF ANY)     
   
 To receive details any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting 

in place of a Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
5. THE HEREFORDSHIRE LOCAL ACCESS FORUM   1 - 12  
   
 To inform the Committee of the work of the Herefordshire Local Access 

Forum. 
 

   
6. A REVIEW OF THE RIGHTS OF WAY SERVICE PERFORMANCE AND 

OUTCOMES   
13 - 42  

   
 To inform of the scope of the key areas of the rights of way service, clarify 

Amey and Council roles, outcomes and progress towards those outcomes.  
The report also sets out to address or clarify some of the regular rights of 
way related queries raised by members of the public, including the 
relationship between the List of Streets and the definitive map. 

 

   
7. UPDATE ON OPERATION OF PLANNING COMMITTEE AND 

ENFORCEMENT FUNCTION   
43 - 48  

   
 To update the Committee on progress of both the single Planning 

Committee and the enforcement function. 
 

   
8. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME   49 - 52  
   
 To Consider the Committee work programme.  
   





PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Children’s Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  An Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
scrutinises corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these 
Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 
•  Help in developing Council policy 
 
• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 

before and after decisions are taken 
 
• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 

by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 
 
• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 

Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 
• Review performance of the Council 
 
• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 
• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services and Strategic Housing. 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care, and youth services. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cultural Services, Community Safety (including Crime and Disorder), 
Economic Development and Youth Services. 
 
Health 
 
Scrutiny of the planning, provision and operation of health services 
affecting the area. 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 
• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 

business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-
inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 
Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



 

 
 Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Democratic Services Officer, on 01432 260460 

MEETING: ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 13 JULY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: HEREFORDSHIRE LOCAL ACCESS FORUM 

REPORT BY:  Mr. R. Gething, Chairman, Herefordshire Local 
Access Forum 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To inform the Committee of the work of the Herefordshire Local Access Forum. 

Recommendation 

 THAT subject to any comment or issues raised by the Committee the report be 
noted. 

Background 

1.  It was brought to the Chairman’s attention that the Herefordshire Local Access 
Forum (HLAF) wished to inform the committee the work it undertakes.  The Chairman 
considered it very appropriate that the Forum should be invited to address this 
meeting as discussion on the work of the Forum would also help set the scene for the 
next agenda item. 

2. Mr R. Gething (Chairman) and Mr N Barnes, (Vice-Chairman) of the Herefordshire 
Local Access Forum will address the meeting and have kindly provided an indication 
of the areas they propose to cover at Appendix 1. 

3. For the Committee’s information a copy of the HLAF Terms of Reference is included 
at Appendix 2. 

Background Papers 
• None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 5

1



2



1

HEREFORDSHIRE
LOCAL ACCESS 

FORUM

H
L
A
F

What is HLAF and what does it 
do?

• A statutory body set up by Herefordshire Council 
under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 
2000(CROW)

• The Forum advises the Local Authority and other 
specified bodies, including Parish & Town 
Councils, on Access and Rights of Way matters 
at a strategic level

3



2

SET UP of HLAF

• 22 members representing - Rights of Way users, 
Land Managers, Local Authority members and 
other interests in Herefordshire

• Terms determined by appointing authority
• Appointments for 1-3 years, which may be 

renewed with Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
elected annually

• 4 meetings per year
• Working Groups – Legislative, Route 

Development, ROWIP

The role of Local Access Forums

• LOCAL
ACCESS
FORUM

Wider access issues

Local restrictions 
(long term or 
permanent)

Rights of Way 
improvement 
plans (ROWIP)

Appointment of 
wardens on access 
land

Proposals for 
bylaws on 
access land

Widening of 
remit to 
include water 
based
recreation

4



3

Achievements of the HLAF
• Worked closely with neighbouring Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority to achieve a cross border initiative in the Black Mountains

Achievements of the HLAF (2)

• Commented on Draft/ Provisional Access Map

• Encouraging public debates such as 4x4’s, Definitive
Map/List of Streets

• Encouraging local community awareness by taking the 
Forum out to parishes

• One of 5 LAFs in England that took part in a Natural 
England Pathfinder Project on recording ROWs

5



4

Consultations

• Prioritising Register of Definitive Map modification order 
applications

• Joint orders and the power to include modifications in other 
orders

• Diversions of Rights of Way - protecting SSSI’s, temporary 
diversions for dangerous works

• Countryside Agency consultation for the Amendment of 
Local Access Forums (England) Regulations 2002

Consultations (2)

• Confirmation of Bylaws relating to Countryside 
recreation: Proposals for change

• West Midlands Spatial Strategy Phase III

• Herefordshire Council’s Shaping Place 2026

• Herefordshire Council’s LTP 3

6



5

Future direction of HLAF

• To be the main advisory body for Herefordshire 
Council on countryside Access and ROW matters

• Work with Herefordshire Council on the review 
and implementation of the ROWIP

• Continue to represent and promote Herefordshire 
at a regional and national level on Access and 
ROW matters

Future direction of HLAF (2)

• To continue to provide an independent 
focus for ROW matters in Herefordshire

• To promote the adoption of best practice in 
the management of ROW 

• Establish firmer links with neighbouring 
LAFs

7



8



TOR Revised 30.01.06 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
1 TITLE 
 
1.1 The forum shall be known as the Herefordshire Local Access Forum 
 
2 REFERENCE AREA 
 

2.1 The County of Herefordshire. 
 
3 STATUS 
 
3.1 The LAF will be a Statutory Advisory Forum.  It will provide advice and 

guidance to the Countryside Agency and the Herefordshire Council on how to 
make the countryside more accessible and enjoyable for open-air recreation 
in ways that have regard to social, economic and environmental interests.  
The LAF will encourage and assist access provision, giving advice on issues 
of particular local relevance. 

 
4 THE ROLE OF HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL 
 
4.1 To prescribe a system of voting by which the LAF can take decisions. 
4.2 Appoint members according to selection criteria that assess if candidates 

have sufficient experience of access to the countryside in the local area to be 
able to make informed and constructive contributions to improving access 
provision. 

4.3 Provide a venue for meetings with full and appropriate facilities. 
4.4 Organise and advertise the LAF meetings. 
4.5 Set the agenda for the LAF and take minutes. 
4.6 Ensure that the LAF operates openly. 
4.7 Provide a dedicated officer to support the LAF. 
4.8 Reimburse reasonable travel expenses incurred by members in attending 

meetings of the LAF and other approved activities, including subsistence and 
childcare in the course of members undertaking their duties. 

4.9 Reimburse the cost of places on organised training courses considered 
appropriate and necessary by the Chair and the Secretariat. 

4.10 Publish an annual report on the LAF’s activities. 
4.11 Formalise an ‘associate’ membership Forum for all those 

authorities/organisations/individuals who have requested links with the 
Herefordshire LAF. 

 
5 MEMBERSHIP OF THE LAF 
 
5.1 The LAF will consist of no fewer that 10 and no more that 22 members. 
5.2 Membership will be balanced to avoid dominance by any single interest group 

and include cross-sectional interests. 
5.3 Members will act in the best interests of the people of Herefordshire and not 

through individual interest agendas. 
5.4 The appointment of Council Members to the Local access Forum will be 

included in the process of appointing councillors to outside bodies. 
5.5  A Chairman and Vice-Chairman for the LAF will be elected by the LAF from 

amongst those persons appointed to be members.  Their terms of office will 
also be decided by the LAF, with a time limit provided by the length of time 
that they were appointed to serve as members. 

9



TOR Revised 30.01.06 

5.6 LAF members will commit necessary time and will be willing to ‘work’ to 
produce outputs. 

5.7 LAF members will represent a broad range of experience and interests in 
recreational use of the countryside, land management and other relevant 
interests (e.g. tourism, local transport, health, disabled). 

5.8 Members will be expected to confirm their support to the positive purpose of 
LAF’s, commit to working within the Terms of Reference and through 
constructive working with other members and devote necessary time to 
attend meetings, training etc. 

5.9 Members must be prepared to take back information/recommendations/ 
advice from the LAF to the members of their own group or organisation or 
area of interest. 

5.10 Members must be prepared to bring forward information/recommendations/ 
advice to the LAF from the members of their own group or organisation or 
area of interest as appropriate. 

5.11 Members must be prepared to work up ideas or actions outside of the 
confines of the meeting of the Forum, reporting back as necessary. 

5.12 Members will respond quickly and efficiently to requests for information from 
the Secretariat. 

5.13 The Herefordshire Council will regularly review membership of the LAF, with 
formal reviews every 3 years.  Each appointment of a member shall be for a 
period of one to three years, with the option of renewal on expiry in each 
case. 

5.14 Members of the LAF may have their appointments terminated because of 
prolonged absences from meetings, including working groups, and 
misconduct. 

5.15 Members of the LAF who are directly or indirectly interested in any matter 
brought up for consideration at a meeting of the forum shall disclose the 
nature of their interest to the meeting. 

5.16 Removal of members from the LAF must be agreed in writing by the 
Chairman and the selection panel. 

5.17 Members will be expected to give 3 months notice in writing should he/she 
wish to leave the LAF. 

 
6 ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE FORUM 
 
6.1 To give advice on the strategic development and implementation of recreation 

and access provision which;  
6.1.1 Sets right of way and open access in a broad context, integrating provision for 

access, all forms of open-air recreation, transport, tourism, health and public 
information. 

6.1.2 Ensures provision is made for all users, and reflects the needs of local 
people. 

6.1.3 Addresses the co-ordinated use of resources to deliver integrated recreation 
and access provision and management. 

6.1.4    Considers the needs of all users of land and water based open air recreation 
6.2 It will work to; 
6.2.1 Develop a constructive and inclusive approach to the improvement of 

recreational access to the countryside. 
6.2.2 Respect local circumstances and different interests while operating within 

national guidance 
6.2.3 Engage in constructive debate and seek consensus wherever possible. 
6.2.4 Where consensus is not possible, make clear the nature of the differing views 

and suggest how they might be resolved. 
 

10



TOR Revised 30.01.06 

6.3 It will work to improve the public rights of way network as required by the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act by: 

6.3.1 Assisting with the review of Herefordshire’s public rights of way network, 
including commenting on the extent to which the network meets the present 
and likely future needs of the public; 

6.3.2 Assisting with the production of the Rights of Way Improvement Plan; 
6.3.3 Evaluating the results of any public consultation on the draft plan and any 

particularly significant issues arising from it; 
6.3.4 Commenting on action plans that follow from the review and assist with their 

implementation. 
6.4 It will assist the implementation, management and review of the statutory right 

of Open Access to the countryside by acting as a consultee for the 
Countryside Agency’s mapping project in Herefordshire by: 

6.4.1 Providing advice to the Council and the Countryside Agency; 
6.5 It will assist the Countryside Agency in  respect of local restrictions of access 

to the countryside by; 
6.5.1 Identifying any local issues that need to be taken into account in  deciding 

how best to implement any advice received from English Nature and English 
Heritage and in considering applications made on land management grounds, 
where consulted; 

6.5.2 Advising on the consistency and general approach that the Countryside 
Agency is taking; 

6.5.3 Helping to identify best practice for the management of access restrictions in 
Herefordshire. 

 
6.6 The LAF will aim to: 
6.6.1 Develop a constructive and inclusive approach to the improvement of 

recreational access to the Herefordshire countryside; 
6.6.2 Adopt inclusive and consistent approached with neighbouring Access 

Forums; 
6.6.3 Disseminating its advice to Members of the Council and other bodies as 

appropriate; 
6.6.4 Seek specialist technical advice when needed and appropriate; 
6.6.5 Work as a cohesive team engaging in constructive debate, seeking 

consensus on all reports; 
6.6.6 Where consensus is not possible, issues will be decided by vote. 
 
7 Administration 
 
7.1 The LAF will meet 3-4 times a year as necessary.  The frequency of the 

meetings can be reviewed by the LAF 
7.2 Agendas will be agreed between the Chairman and the Secretariat. 
7.3 The LAF will be open to  the public and advertised in advance 
7.4 Past agendas, papers and minutes of meetings will be available to the public 
7.5 Questions must be sent to the Herefordshire Council in advance of the LAF 
7.6 The Chair will invite observers to the LAF when appropriate 
7.7 Observers will be able to contribute to the proceedings at the discretion of the 

Chairman 
7.8 Minutes of the Forum meetings will be considered by the Herefordshire  

Councils’ Cabinet/Policy Advisory Group/Scrutiny Committee/Local Area 
Committee as appropriate 

7.9 The LAF will prepare an annual report on its activities.  This will be published 
by the Herefordshire Council. 

11



12



  

MEETING: ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 13TH JULY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: A REVIEW OF THE RIGHTS OF WAY SERVICE 
PERFORMANCE AND OUTCOMES 

REPORT BY:  Parks, Countryside and Leisure Development 
Manager 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Purpose 

To inform of the scope of the key areas of the rights of way service, clarify Amey and Council roles, 
outcomes and progress towards those outcomes. This report also sets out to address or clarify some 
of the regular rights of way related queries raised by members of the public, including the relationship 
between the List of Streets and the definitive map. 

Recommendation 

 THAT: subject to any comments the Committee may wish to make the report be noted. 

Key Points Summary 

• Community Services Scrutiny Committee and Environment Scrutiny committee have looked at 
elements of public rights of way in the past 

• Due to the number of detailed queries coming in from the public, along with the existing 
backlogs of work, Environment Scrutiny Committee requested a full report on the Public Rights 
of Way service. 

• Amey Herefordshire have recently taken over the rights of way service and improvements in 
some can areas already be identified 

• The pressures on the rights of way service are considerable but it is not currently identified as a 
high priority service area for the council 

• A number of regularly used terminology are defined and explained (Appendix A) 

Alternative Options 

A number of options are available and some are discussed in the report. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

1 This is an information report for Scrutiny Committee. 

Introduction and Background 

2 Due to the number of queries raised by members of the public, the committee requested a 

AGENDA ITEM 6

13



  

report setting out details of the main rights of way functions, current pressure and backlogs 
and plans setting out improvements. The report, on request from the committee, has been 
extended to include information regarding the list of streets and unsurfaced roads, both of 
which have been queried by the public. Past Community Services scrutiny committees have 
looked at elements of the public rights of way service such a definitive map modification 
Orders, following a change of Cabinet Member portfolios, the responsibility for public rights of 
way now rests with the cabinet member for Highways and transportation. 

Key Considerations 

Overview of the service including current set up  

3 Herefordshire is crossed by a network of 2100 miles (3358 km) of Public Rights of Way 
consisting of 1840 miles (2942 km) of footpaths, 250 miles (394 km) of bridleways and 13 
miles (22 km) of byways open to all traffic (BOATS). There is also currently 1km of restricted 
byway. The council is responsible for ensuring that the whole of rights of way network is kept 
clear of obstructions and that the network is promoted and can be enjoyed by all those 
wishing to use it. 

4 Herefordshire Council also has a responsibility to ensure the Definitive Map and statement are 
kept up to date which involves making changes when evidence is produced which shows 
there is an error or omission. The council also has powers to make changes to individual 
paths either following an application from a landowner or through its own application. 

Service Transfer 

5 Public Rights of Way were one of a number of services transferred to Amey Herefordshire in 
September 2009.  

Amey Herefordshire’s Responsibilities 

6 Amey Herefordshire is responsible for the end to end running of the service. The details of 
what services are being delivered by Amey Herefordshire Council are set out in the service 
definitions attached at appendix B. To enable them to deliver these services in the most 
efficient way and meet the Key Performance Targets, Amey has taken on the management of 
the revenue and capital budgets for the service which currently equates to: 

Revenue £557,000 
Capital    £45,000 

 
These budgets are broken down as follows: 
 
Expenditure 
Staffing (salaries, pensions, Nicks) £306.000 
Maintenance     £205,000 
Publicity and Promotion  £1,700 
Parish Paths Partnership  £45,000 
Capital Improvements   £45,000 

Income    £5,600 

7 The work Amey carries out on behalf of the council is monitored through a number of key 
performance indicators, service standards and service definitions.  Officers from Amey and 
Herefordshire Council meet every other week to discuss outputs, progress, indicators, higher 
level operational matters and strategic developments.  

14



  

8 Since the transfer, Amey has recruited 5 new members of staff bringing the service back up to 
a full complement of 14. Improvements include a review of legal order processes, 
consideration of a new approach to dealing with applications and a restructuring of the team 
to enable the appointment of a dedicated enforcement officer.  

9 For the first 10 months of the contract a number of key performance indicators were agreed 
as set out in appendix C. All indicators have been achieved  

Herefordshire Council’s Responsibility 

10 Herefordshire Council are responsible for the strategic development of the service, authorising 
legal orders and notices, ensuring outcomes are met, setting service standards, monitoring 
performance and ensuring value for money. The Parks, Countryside and Leisure Manager is 
responsible for this area of work in conjunction with the council’s service delivery team. 

Key Strategic Documents 

11 The key strategy document is the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP). The ROWIP is 
a statutory document introduced as part of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 
Although Government required local authorities to produce a ROWIP, there was no 
requirement to implement its recommended actions. Herefordshire’s ROWIP was published in 
2007 The plan sets out Herefordshire Council’s strategic direction, linked to corporate aims 
and ambitions up until 2011. The plan also includes policies for definitive map modification 
orders (DMMO’, public path Orders (PPO’s), Inspection and Maintenance and Enforcement.  

Details of main service including backlogs and proposals  

Public Rights of Way Legal Order functions 

12 Herefordshire Council has powers and duties arising from, amongst other things, its role as 
Highway Authority, Planning Authority and Surveying Authority. In terms of Public Rights of 
Way this means that it can make legal orders under the Highways Act 1980, Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981.  

The main, although not only, types of order are as follows: 

 Order Relevant legislation 

1 Public Path Creation Order S26, Highways Act 1980 

2 Public Path Extinguishment Order S118, Highways Act 1980 

3 Public Path Diversion Order S119, Highways Act 1980 

4 Public Path Stopping Up Order S257, Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

5 Public Path Diversion Order S257, Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

6 Definitive Map & Statement 
Modification Order (DMMO) 

S53, Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 

 (1-5 above are collectively termed Public Path Orders (PPO)). 

 

15



  

 

 

13 Characteristics and differences of the types of orders:      

Public Path Orders (PPO’s): Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMO’s): 

• create new rights of way and 
extinguish existing rights 

• correct the legal record of PROW (the 
definitive map and statement) but do not 
actually create or extinguish rights 

• are a discretionary power • Are a statutory duty. Herefordshire 
Council must make a DMMO where 
sufficient evidence exists of an error in 
the Definitive Map and Statement 

• Herefordshire Council can 
charge applicants for the making 
of PPOs 

• Herefordshire Council is required to meet 
the costs of determining applications and 
making DMMOs 

• There is no statutory process 
setting out how an application 
for a PPO should be made; 
instead authorities devise their 
own forms and systems. 

• There is a statutory process setting out 
how an application for a DMMO should be 
made. 

• Are an essential tool for 
Herefordshire Council for 
resolving problems on the 
network and enabling the 
network to evolve to meet 
current demands both for users 
and land owners / managers. 

 

Whilst the legal tests relating to PPOs and DMMOs are fundamentally different, the format of 
the process is similar:  

Application received - Application determined - Order Made –  

Order Advertised - Order Confirmed and comes into effect 

14 Highways Act PPOs are determined by the Regulatory Committee whilst Town and Country 
Planning Act PPOs and DMMOs are determined by the Assistant Director Highways, 
Transportation and community services based on a report prepared by the Public Rights of 
Way team. If an objection is made to an Order, Herefordshire Council may not confirm it; it 
may abandon a PPO (but not a DMMO) or refer the order to the Secretary of State for a 
decision on whether to confirm or not. This process is normally carried out by the Planning 
Inspectorate on behalf of the Secretary of State by means of written representations, a public 
hearing or a public inquiry. 

Orders Performance 

15 The table below sets out the key stages of processing legal orders and the performance since 
 2007. The service inherited a backlog following local Government reorganisation in 1998 and 
 still retains a backlog. There have been no increases in staff resources to manage demands 
 on this area of the service since 1998.   

16



  

 Highways Act  
Orders 

Town and Country 
Planning Act 
Orders 

Definitive Map 
Modification Orders 

 2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009 2007 2008 2009 

Number of 
determinations per year 

11 4 9 5 4 4 7 13 0 

Number of orders made 
per year 

12 3 2 5 4 4 0 0 5 

Number of confirmed 
orders per year 

6 7 4 6 3 3 0 0 0 

 

Current position 

16 As at 31st May 2010 the outstanding legal order work facing Herefordshire Council is as 
follows: 

 

 Public path 
orders  
(Highways 
Act 1980) 

Public path 
orders  – 
(Town and 
country 
planning act 
1990) 

Definitive 
map 
modification 
orders 

No. of applications received but not yet 
determined 

63 1 85 

No. of applications determined but awaiting 
order making  

1 0 16 

No. of applications for which an order has 
been made and to which objections have 
been lodged and is awaiting a decision from 
Secretary of State 

5 1 7 

No. of applications received during previous 
12 months  

1 1 2 

Total 70 2 108 

 

17 There are about 300 anomalies which are unresolved discrepancies on either the definitive 
map, definitive statement or both. Anomalies need to be investigated and resolved either 
through minor amendments to documentation or through a formal modification order process. 
The total number of anomalies has recently been reduced from 595 to 360 due mainly to the 
digitisation of the definitive map. However the outstanding anomalies are likely to require 

17



  

extensive research and in many instances a legal order to correct them 

18 It is very difficult to calculate reliable average times for the various stages of the process and 
for each type of order. However whilst Town and Country Planning Act applications are 
normally determined and made within a reasonable period of about 6 months, both Highways 
Act and DMMO applications from receipt of an application through to a change on the 
definitive map typically take many years to complete, certainly the best part of 15 years is not 
unknown.  

19 Currently, 2.8 officers are employed to deal with legal order applications.  They are able to 
complete approximately 10 PPO or 4 DMMO determinations per officer per year.  Many of 
these will give rise to formal objections which will lead to Public Inquiries – placing additional 
pressure on staff resources.   

20 Since September 2009, the number of Highways Act PPO applications awaiting determination 
has fallen from 80 to 63. As staff resources have been allocated to tackling this area of work it 
has been found that a number of the older proposals no longer have the active support of the 
original applicant, either because there is no longer the need for the change, the applicant has 
moved away or they have simply have dropped the idea. However, this rate of "attrition" of the 
backlog is unlikely to continue as more recent applications reach the top of the pile. This issue 
does not arise with the consideration of DMMO applications; as long as the original application 
was correctly made then the Council has the duty to consider it and make an order, if justified, 
whether or not the original applicant still support it. 

Prioritisation 

21 Herefordshire Council’s Rights of Way Improvement Plan, published in 2007 set out policies 
to prioritise applications both for PPOs and DMMOs. Until that point applications were largely 
dealt with in order of receipt.  

22 PPO applications are now prioritised according to whether they are required to enable 
development to proceed (Town and Country Planning Act applications) and then broadly 
whether there any public benefit arising from the proposed change. An example of a public 
interest diversion is a footpath that is in danger of eroding into the river and the most cost 
effective option for saving that footpath is to divert it. 

23 DMMOs are prioritised according to whether the proposed modification is likely to lead to the 
recording of a useful route and on the strength of the evidence submitted in support of the 
application. At present there are 15 high-priority applications, 33 medium-priority applications, 
and 37 low-priority applications awaiting determination. 

24 With existing resources, it is technically possible that all outstanding DMMO high-priority 
applications could be determined within the next 2 – 3 years, and that thereafter any new 
application which is assessed to be high priority could then be determined with in 12-18 
months of receipt.  However, this could only be achieved if there were no other competing 
demands on officer time, and this is unlikely, given the prospect of future public inquiries  and 
the need to deal with medium and low priority applications.  New applications which are not 
categorised as high priority will take their place in the waiting list according to their priority 
grading.  This means that the Council would still be unable to comply with the legal 
requirement to determine a DMMO application within 12 months. 

  

 

18



  

 

How to tackle the backlog 

  

25 The extent of the backlog is determined both by the flow of new applications being submitted 
to the council and the speed with which the council processes those applications. Some 
aspects affecting the flow of new applications can be influenced by the council although most 
are largely beyond its control.  

26 Whilst the Council has a statutory duty to accept and process applications for DMMOs there is 
no such duty as regards PPOs. A number of authorities have in the past refused to accept 
landowner interest applications for Highways Act PPOs on the basis that they have insufficient 
resources to deal with them. However, they are an essential tool for resolving problems on the 
network and enabling the network to evolve to meet current demands both for users and land 
owners / managers and this option is not considered practical or viable. 

27 The costs involved in the making of applications will also affect the number of applications 
made. Councils are not allowed to charge for the processing of DMMO applications. Councils 
may charge for processing PPOs. The charge may cover all costs incurred in the 
consideration of the application up to and including the making and advertising of the order 
(and the advertising of the confirmation and coming into operation if required). The charge 
cannot include the costs of pursuing an opposed order - for instance at a public inquiry. The 
charges may not exceed the actual costs incurred. Costs are currently set at a fixed fee of 
£880 plus advertising costs. The fees were last reviewed in 2006. Consequently any fixed fee 
system should have a fee which is equal to the minimum cost incurred and obviously less than 
the average cost incurred. HC’s fees are also probably slightly below the average currently 
charged by nearby authorities. A variable fee system would reflect more closely the actual 
costs incurred in the process and as these would generally be greater than the current fixed 
fee may act to dampen demand for PPOs. However, such a system is administratively more 
complex and leaves applicants with a degree of uncertainty as to the costs they may be 
facing. 

28 There appears to be little that can be done to control the flow of DMMO applications. There 
are probably minor improvements that can be made to the method and monitoring of the 
processing of applications. The bottom line is that such applications are always going to be 
very time-consuming to manage and the only way the current backlog is going to be 
significantly reduced is by applying additional resources to this area of work or a change in 
legislation. 

29 Whilst the extent of this problem varies between authorities it is nonetheless a nation-wide 
problem. A working group made up of representatives of the major interested parties and 
sponsored by DEFRA and Natural England, “the Stakeholder Working Group” (SWG) has 
recently issued its final report with a series of recommendations as to how this problem could 
be tackled. In reality the recommendations even if adopted will streamline the process but will 
not radically shorten it, at least as far as the existing backlog of DMMO applications is 
concerned. The future of the SWG report is uncertain given the recent change in government. 
There is still a possibility that  a proposed 2026 cut off date for DMMO applications will be 
commenced by Central Government which could have a considerable impact on the number 
of new DMMO applications received by Herefordshire Council. 

30 On the basis that such additional resources are not available, the only alternative is to find 
them from within the existing PROW team. The staff most likely to have the skills necessary 
to tackle this type of work are those already working on legal orders, the PPO staff, although 

19



  

additional training would be required. 

31 Given that much of their time is currently being spent pursuing landowner interest applications 
probably at less than economic cost, Landowner interest PPOs applications will be contracted 
out to an independent consultant, the costs of which would have to be met by the applicant, 
and using the officer time thus freed up to work on DMMO applications. 

32 Under the new system the applicant would have to submit an initial proposal to the PROW 
Team so that it could give an outline assessment of whether it was viable. For instance, at an 
early stage the PROW Team will weed out proposals which might lead to additional burdens 
on its future maintenance budget or ones that obviously disadvantage path users. It will also 
prepare a plan for use in consultations and order making and would probably involve a site 
visit. 

33 Once the application had passed this assessment, the application will be returned to the 
applicant with a covering letter of approval and the applicant will be invited to contact the 
consultant. They will be directed to a list of consultants listed on the IPROW Website although 
it will be emphasised that inclusion on the list is not an endorsement of their expertise or 
standard of work  

34 The consultant will then carry out full pre-order consultations, prepare a report and a draft 
order according to the Herefordshire Council specification. The information will be returned to 
the PROW Team and a decision made on whether or not to make the order. If an order is 
made, the PROW Team will seal and advertise the order in the press. The consultant will be 
expected to serve notice on all statutory consultees and place and maintain on site for the 
statutory period.          Should objections be received then these will be forwarded to the 
consultant to resolve on the basis that the Council are unlikely to proceed with the order 
unless the objections are withdrawn. 

35 The cost to an applicant of using a consultant would vary depending upon the consultant used 
and the complexity of the case. One company who specialises in this area of work advertises 
a fixed fee service for local authorities for single order / single owner / single path proposals of 
£3210 + VAT. It is reasonable to assume that smaller firms and independent consultants may 
well have a lower charging structure. 

36 The Public Rights of Way Team will still require the payment of a fee from the applicant for 
the work that it is required to carry out on each proposal. This will include initial site visit, plan 
preparation, checking of draft report and order, sealing of order and potentially posting and 
renewal of site notices. It is suggested that a fee of £150 - £300, payable on order making, 
would be appropriate.  Clarification will be needed on any costs from legal services. 

37 The PROW Team will prepare a comprehensive guidance pack available to applicants. This 
will include detailed guidance on the process and responsibilities for each element of this, 
specifications and pro-formas for consultations, draft reports and draft orders and an 
explanation of the charges that the PROW Team will still be required to levy along with a set 
of service standards. 

38 The table below sets out the estimated performance improvements from this changed method 
of dealing with the various types of legal order applications. These numbers may need to be 
refined as the system beds but they will be monitored and challenged by Amey Herefordshire 
and the client monitoring team through the contract. 

 

 

20



  

 

 

 Highways Act  
Orders 

Town and Country 
Planning Act Orders 

Definitive Map 
Modification Orders 

  2011 2012 2013 2011 2012 2013 2011 2012 2013   
Estimated number of 
determinations per year 15 20 20 4 4 4 6 8 10   

Estimated  number of orders 
made per year 10 15 15 4 4 4 5 6 7   

Estimated number of 
confirmed orders per year  8 12 12 4 4 4 3 3 4   

 

Maintenance 

39 Section 36 of the Highways Act 1980 charges Herefordshire Council, as the Highways 
Authority for the county, to maintain all publicly maintainable highways which includes almost 
all rights of way.  Section 130 of the act sets out a further duty to assert and protect the rights 
of the public to the use and enjoyment of any highway and to prevent their stopping up or 
obstruction. 

40 The responsibility for maintaining the network falls to both landowners and Herefordshire 
Council.  Landowners are responsible for maintaining stiles, gates and other structures used 
to enable access through hedges and fences.  Landowners are also responsible for ensuring 
rights of way do not become blocked by obstacles such as crops, trees, and overgrowth.  The 
council is responsible for maintaining signposts, waymarking, watercourse crossings, steps 
and surface vegetation.  They are also responsible for ensuring landowners meet their legal 
obligations. 

41 The rights of way maintenance staff receives reports of problems on the network and 
investigates them.  At the same time they also identify potential access improvements such as 
replacing stiles with gates or improving the surface.  Once work has been identified either the 
landowner will be requested to carry out the work or the work will be carried out by Amey 
Herefordshire pending on the nature of the problem. 

42 Over the past few years as access along the network has improved, the nature of defects has 
moved from reports of missing stiles, gates, bridges etc. to routine maintenance of existing 
structures, waymarking and improvements.   

43 Legislation such as the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 and Countryside and Rights of Way 
Act 2000 has seen a move towards making the rights of way network more accessible to a 
wider section of the community. This includes replacing stiles with gates; making promotional 
material more accessible to those with visual impairment and bringing furniture (stiles and 
gates) up to the British Standard. 

44 As demand on the rights of way network has increased so too has the expectation for a well 
maintained network.  However, resources are limited and thus need to be properly targeted to 
maximise effectiveness. 

45 Using Local Transport Plan (LTP) Funding over the past five years, and in accordance with 

21



  

the Rights of Way Improvement Plan programme, a great deal of time has been dedicated to 
improving access..  Specific initiatives include ‘The Ross Buggy Route’ and “Miles without 
Stiles” which have created strong focal points in the relevant parishes.  The ‘Miles without 
Stiles (removing stiles and replacing with gates) initiative is being rolled out across the 
County, with its own logo and supporting leaflets. 

46 PROW maintenance is resourced from the core budget.  It has to be stressed that without the 
latter the service would be under considerably more pressure.  However, these budgets 
continue to be under pressure due to inflation as they have not been increased in line with the 
cost of contract prices, in accordance with the approach taken in the Medium Term Financial 
Management Strategy which has only applied inflation to staffing budgets.   

47 Some defects are easier to deal with than others and the outstanding maintenance backlog 
falls into either short term maintenance defects or long term obstructions. Short term 
maintenance defects can usually be dealt with in a matter of weeks. Long term obstructions, 
which may involve for example structures being built over a right of way, can often take a 
considerable time to resolve as the council must consider all available options and would only 
remove a building as a very last resort. The service receives a considerable number of 
reported defects each year and until fairly recently the clearance rate has been quite good. 

 

 April 1998 – March 
2002 

April 2002 – March 2006 April 2006 – March 
2010 

Long Term 
Obstructions 

Received        79 

Cleared          7 

Received          120 

Cleared             27 

Received           103 

Cleared              49 

General 
Service 
requests* 

Received        6594 

Cleared          5950 

Received          19378 

Cleared             15522 

Received          12829 

Cleared             7067 

 

Current position 

48 As of 31 May 2010 the outstanding maintenance issues for the council were: 

 Current outstanding 

Long Term 
Obstructions 

108 

General 
Service 
requests* 

6682 

 * General Service requests covers all requests for PROW services currently recorded 

22



  

 

Examples of 
outstanding 
maintenance 
work** 

Outstanding as of 
May 2010 

Responsibility Cost to clear 

Stiles 778 Landowner/ 
Herefordshire Council 

£82,468 

Gates 389 Landowner/ 
Herefordshire Council 

£194,500 

Signposts 758 Herefordshire Council £73,526 

Bridges 26 Herefordshire Council £94,000 

Ditch 
crossings 

31 Herefordshire Council £3,348 

Surface 
vegetation for 
strimming 

667 Herefordshire Council £50,000 

 ** The nature of the work can be missing, broken, request for upgrade or requiring repair 

49 Bridges are becoming a particular issue for the service as the number of outstanding defects 
relating to bridges is increasing. A problem with a bridge will often require a path to be closed 
which has knock on advertising costs for the legal closure order and the inconvenience to 
users. The costs associated with repairing or replacing a bridge can be considerable for the 
public rights of way budget an as a consequence paths are sometime closed for 2 – 3 years 
before funds are identified to carry out the required works.  This problem is increasing as 
much of the existing bridge stock is coming to end of its useful life. The extent and scope of 
the problem is unknown as a full inventory of the existing bridges has not been made. There 
are currently 11 paths closed due to bridges. 

Prioritisation 

50. Herefordshire Council agreed an Inspection and Maintenance policy in 2006 which 
 essentially prioritised the whole of the network into categories based on their usage and 
 importance to the public At the top are paths that are part of promoted routes such as the 
 Wye Valley Walk, and at the bottom are routes that are dead ends or serve no real 
 purpose. The types of defects are also categorised with those being identified as a danger 
 at the top and those identified as being an inconvenience (a missing waymarker for example) 
 at the bottom. Time scales are identified to deal with the defects. However in light of 
 continuing lack of resources these timescales may need to be extended and the proposed 
 future Key Performance Indicators amended accordingly. Due to the lack of investment in the 
 rights of way service and the age of much of the furniture, it is anticipated that the condition of 
 the network will deteriorate at an increasing rate. This can be evidenced by the increasing 
 number of bridge failures and associated long term path closures as there is insufficient 
 budget to fund all the new bridges required.  

Parish Councils 

51 Town and parish council’s have various powers relating to the management of public rights of 

23



  

way, primarily under the Highways Act 1980. Using these powers, parish council’s can take 
over some of the maintenance duties from the local authority.  Such as the maintenance of 
footpaths and bridleways They may also take action in their own name or require the 
Highways Authority to take action to protect and assert the rights of the public and the seek 
the removal of obstructions.. 

52 Herefordshire Council and Amey Herefordshire works in partnership with 84 parish and town 
council’s through the parish paths partnership (P3) scheme. This involves the Herefordshire 
Council providing a grant in return for the local council agreeing to carry out certain 
maintenance and improvement works on behalf of the local authority. The table below sets out 
the further details of the P3 scheme including the net savings. 

 

 Parish Paths Partnership details 
 2007 2008 2009 

No.  parishes in the 
scheme 

60 75 84 

Kms covered by P3 
schemes (out of 3400) 

720 988 1079 

No. Gates installed / 
repaired 

45 73 66 

Length in metres of 
surface vegetation 
clearance 

79,422 103,246 93,471 

No. Signposts installed / 
repaired 

53 60 65 

No. Cross steps installed / 
repaired 

82 102 106 

Financial savings on 
above work 

£62,370  gross save £84,386 gross save £78,444 gross save 

P3 cost 

Net Save 

24,946 

38,000 

£35,000 

49,386 

41,989 

36,455 

 

 The scheme is very successful and engages the local community, provides healthy exercise 
for many volunteers, allows parish councils to focus on the routes they know best and 
provides exceptional value for money. However we have now reached the stage where we 
have inadequate budget to expand P3 without taking revenue and capital away from the 
responsibilities that must remain with herefordshire council such as bridges, or spending on 
the wider network and in parishes that do not wish to be part of the P3 scheme.  

Tackling the backlog 

53 Since the transfer of the PROW function to Amey, a number of new small initiatives have 
been developed with the aim of maximising the efficiency of the existing maintenance budget. 

24



  

• A potential supplier and installer of large PROW bridges has been indentified and a 
pilot scheme is being trialled. Should this be successful then not only will [there be 
financial savings] [it be possible to install a greater number of bridges than would 
otherwise have been possible], but the replacement time will also be reduced thus 
minimising disruption for users. The supplier is also local to Hereford.  

• A “Parish Blitz” whereby instead of the usual one dedicated gang carrying out PROW 
routine and reactive works, 5 gangs are directed to a specified area to achieve 
maximum impact in a day, has been arranged for the Titley area at the end of June 
2010. The result should be that the Titley Loop Walk, one of Herefordshire Council’s key 
promoted routes is made stile free and much more widely accessible to users.  

• Parish Councils have been involved in a scheme to identify and validate many older 
defects recorded on the Council’s PROW Management System, J-Walk. Consideration 
will be given to developing a more permanent scheme involving Parish Councils and 
Parish Footpath Officers to help the PROW Team by ensuring the availability of 
accurate and up-to-date information about the state of the network. This has contributed 
to the clearance of almost 600 defects already this year.  

• The administration of temporary closures is now routinely carried out by the staff who 
deal with general road closures rather than the PROW Team. This will free up a staff 
resource that whilst mainly being directed to tackling the legal order backlog can also 
contribute to other areas of PROW work 

Benchmarking 

54 Attached at appendix D is benchmarking data relating the public rights of way PPO’s 
DMMO’s, maintenance, enforcement, staffing and budgets. Shropshire, Gloucestershire, 
Warwickshire and Monmouthshire were the only authorities who have responded to date. It is 
quite difficult to compare authorities as there are variations on how services are delivered, 
data collected and assessments made. The information does demonstrate however, that 
Herefordshire Council is not alone in its backlog of work and pressures but there are areas 
were we can learn from other authorities. Our performance against other authorities will 
continue to be monitored and with the improvements identified it is hoped that in some areas 
we will be able to compare more favourably. 

 

Communications 

55 Herefordshire Council and Amey have a number of ways of communicating, promoting and 
engaging with local communities and the wider public. There are a number of free walking 
guides which have recently be redesigned so they provide members of the public with the 
information needed about the walk. These were produced following discussions with the 
council’s diversity team to ensure they met current DDA guidelines and requirements. The 
public rights of way web pages have recently been the subject of a complete review and make 
over with more relevant information being added. A number of suggestions were received 
about what should be added to the website which were all considered but in some cases 
rejected as the information would not be factual, not be of interest to the wider public and 
could potentially cause unnecessary anxiety to landowners and householders. One such 
example was publishing the list of known anomalies on the website. It is unlikely that people 
using the path in question would be aware of any problem and the anomaly itself may only be 
an administrative issue which needs to be resolved. Putting a list, including locations, on the 
website may potentially causes problems for the landowner. 

25



  

56 The council also communicate through the local access forum, press releases, directly with 
Parish Councils and through the PACT meetings and information and interpretation boards.    

List of Streets 

57 Many of the questions raised by members of public refer to the list of streets rather than the 
definitive map. The characteristics and differences between the two document is set in the 
table below   

Definitive Map List of Streets 

Shows legally defined footpaths, 
bridleways, byways open to all traffic and 
restricted byways 

Shows A, B, C and unclassified roads along 
with footways and cycleways 

Conclusive evidence of the status of a route Non conclusive as to the status of a route 

Requires legal order to amend Does not necessarily require legal order to 
amend 

Legal duty to maintain in map form Legal duty to maintain in either map and / or 
list form 

Formal legal process in place to change No formal process in place to change 

Managed by the rights of way team Managed by the highways team 

Cannot show all routes on the list of streets Can show most routes shown on the 
definitive map 

 

The main issues and queries can be summarised as: 

a)  There is a view that it is easier to add a new route on to the list of streets as there is 
no statutory procedure involved and should therefore be much quicker.  

b) Many of the routes currently used by vehicles but not shown on either document could 
be either a public right of way and added to the definitive map or a highway and added to the 
list of streets, or both.  

c) Parts of the unclassified road network shown of the list of streets are obstructed and 
 some members of the public would like to see these routes opened up and promoted. 

58 A list of streets is kept under section 36(6) of the Highways Act 1980. The purpose of this list 
 is to record all highways maintainable at the public expense, irrespective of the public rights 
 over them. It is possible that errors may exist in the electronic versions of this list, those errors 
having come about through the transfer of information from the original paper mapping and/or 
insofar as the Council tended only to list roads on their listing when they were subject to 
vehicular rights. If errors are identified the Council should investigate accordingly and bearing 
in mind its statutory duty to maintain the list of streets and correct the list as appropriate. 
There is no particular requirement on the Council to put any particular procedure in place to 
undertake this task following suggestion that any particular way should be added or removed 
from the list of streets. However, given the duty to maintain the list and a need to manage the 
process to ensure that all such suggestions for change are dealt with consistently and 

26



  

appropriately and in line with quality assurance standards, a procedure is being developed to 
do this. This procedure shall take account of national best practice and it is proposed that it be 
formally installed by the end of the 2010/11 financial year. 

59 When determining whether or not a way is in fact a public highway the Highway Authority or if 
its decision is subject to challenge, the Courts would be required to consider all available 
evidence and on the basis of that evidence reach a decision on the balance of probabilities 
that the way is in fact a public highway. Evidence pertaining to the ownership or usage of the 
way by the public may come from many sources and can vary depending upon the 
circumstances of the site. There is a legal maxim that states “once a highway always a 
highway” To add a lost highway onto the list of streets it is necessary to demonstrate past 
maintenance at the public’s expense and that the route was utilised and regarded as public. 

60 The Council’s Highway Maintenance Plan covers all categories of publicly maintainable 
highways; it is underpinned by the 2005 national code of practice for highway maintenance 
management “Well Maintained Highways”. Whilst this plan does describe many criteria in 
terms of the metalled highways that form the majority of the public highway network within its 
scope; the core principles, such as risk based prioritisation apply to all network categories.  

Unsurfaced County Roads 

61 Unsurfaced county roads are included under the heading of Rural Access Roads in the 
Highways maintenance Plan. Rural Access Roads are defined as “Roads sometime serving 
rural properties, often unmetalled and providing access to the countryside carrying only 
access traffic. These roads often do not have a sealed surface”. The designation is only a 
local one and not statutory. Herefordshire Council has a general duty for all highways which is 
to maintain them in accordance with their character and usage.  There are144 miles of roads 
without a sealed surface within the county. The unsurfaced roads are inspected once a year 
by the Highways Service at Amey Herefordshire, in a vehicle if they are accessible or on foot if 
they are not. They are inspected for the risk they pose to the public and as such are regarded 
as low priority in the overall category rating of highways. The way unsurfaced roads are 
inspected is being reviewed so that it fits in with the contractual arrangements with Amey but 
the risk based inspection regime will essentially remain and these revisions will feature on the 
updated Highways Maintenance Plan  Therefore if there is a defect on an unsurfaced road 
and that defect is such that is poses little risk to the public, the action carried out and the 
associated timescales will reflect the level of risk. Unsurfaced roads are depicted on the 
county road map in purple and shown on Ordnance survey maps as red dots and described in 
the legend as “other routes with public access”. They are generally not signposted on the 
ground and there no legal requirement to do so.  Any requests to sign a route would be 
considered against the merits such as usage, condition and public benefit. Therefore 
members of the public who do not live in the local area would only know they were public 
highways from looking at an Ordnance Survey map.  

62 The condition of unsurfaced roads varies considerable as does the maintenance required to 
make them drivable or in some cases passable. To open up the whole network of unsurfaced 
county roads would require considerable investment for routes which are a very low priority. 

Community Impact 

63 The public rights of way network is used extensively by local communities for walking, cycling, 
horse riding, driving etc. and any improvements will be of direct benefit. The network also 
provides considerable income for tourism local tourist related businesses and an open, 
accessible and well promoted network will also bring much needed income into the local 
economy. 

27



  

Financial Implications 

64 No financial implications identified  

Legal Implications  

65 Legal services have an important role to play in rights of way work and any increase in the 
number of orders being made or enforcement action taken will have a direct impact on the 
service. In regards to legal orders, Legal services are responsible for checking over a legal 
order and sealing it. If objections to legal orders are received legal services are required to 
support the rights of way team in submitting the application to the secretary of state for 
determination. Ultimately legal services would need to support rights of way officers at a 
public inquiry including presenting the case, employing a barrister if required and proving 
detailed guidance and legal advice. 

Risk Management 

66 A number of improvements have been set out in this report and are currently being 
implemented. If there is any delay in the implementation, there is a risk of formal complaints 
which will tie up staff time and damage the reputation of the council. There is also a risk that 
continued financial budget restrictions will cause the maintenance backlog to increase and the 
network to deteriorate further. These risks will be added to the service risk register be 
monitored on a regular basis.  

Consultees 

Herefordshire Local Access Forum. 

Appendices 

Appendix A - Terminology 

Appendix B – Service Definitions 

Appendix C – Key Performance Indicators 

Appendix D – Benchmarking details 

Background Papers 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan 

Highways Maintenance Plan 

 

 

 

28



  

 

Appendix A 

Terminology 

There are a number of common terms used in rights of way and associated work: 

Public footpath (Often confused with Footway which is a pavement) – routes that can only be used by 
pedestrians 

Public bridleway – routes that can be used by pedestrians, cyclists and horse riders 

Byway Open to all traffic (BOAT) – routes that can be used by mechanically propelled vehicles, horse 
riders, cyclists, carriage drivers and pedestrians 

Restricted byway – routes that can be used by carriage drivers, horse riders, cyclists and pedestrians 
but not by mechanically propelled vehicles.   

Definitive Map – A statutory document that sets out the location of all public rights of way within the 
county. The definitive map is considered conclusive evidence of the existence and status of a right of 
way in a court of law and any changes to it must go through due legal process 

Definitive statement – The statutory document which accompanies the definitive map and sets out the 
extent of and limitations on rights of way recorded on the definitive map. In Herefordshire, in most 
instances, the definitive statement only gives the start and end points of a particular right of way 
which was how the original statement was set out.  

Quiet Lanes –non-statutory designation used to describe roads with little vehicular traffic (not used by 
Herefordshire Council);  

Green lanes – a descriptive term used to describe many un-sealed routes (with or without a stone 
surface). “Green lane” has no legal significance and it cannot be assumed that these routes carry 
vehicular or indeed any other public rights. 

Private Street –a highway that is not publicly maintainable. 

Private Road – a route over which there are no highway rights 

 RUPP’s – Roads Used as Public Paths. A type of highway recorded on the original definitive map. 
The right of the public over RUPP’s was unclear and remaining RUPP’s were reclassified as 
restricted byways in 2006. 

CRF – carriage road used as a footpath – A non-statutory term used during the compilation of the 
first definitive maps for some routes that were subsequently recorded as RUPP’s to describe a route 
that was considered to carry vehicles but in actual fact used mainly by the public as a footpath.  

CRB – Carriage road used as a bridlepath – as CRF but also with public equestrian usage.  

“Without prejudice to higher rights” –a commonly used phrase reflecting the legal position that the 
depiction of, for instance, a footpath on the definitive map is not conclusive evidence that there are 
not currently unrecorded higher rights (bridleway or byway) (see modification orders); 

List of Streets– a list of all highways that are publicly maintainable; Herefordshire Council is required 
by law to keep a list of streets but it is not a legal record of highways status. Almost all rights of way 

29



  

are publicly maintainable and so technically should be recorded on the list of streets but, as in the 
majority of councils, they are not generally included on the Herefordshire Council list of streets. There 
is no defined format for the list of streets and it can be either a map or a simple list. In Herefordshire 
Council the official list of streets is regarded as the Digital Map All roads layer and a print-out of that 
layer’s attributes.  

ROWIP – Rights of Way Improvement Plan – statutory strategic public rights of way document 
produced in 2007 and due for review in 2011 

DMMO – Definitive Map Modification Order – legal order which changes the definitive map and 
statement following the production of evidence to demonstrate it is in error. Statutory duty 

PPO – Public Path Order- legal order which changes the definitive map and statement following a 
request from the landowner or the local authority based on landowner and public interest. 

IPROW – Institute of Public Rights of Way Officer – professional body representing public rights of 
way officers and those with an interest in public rights of way 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



  

 

 

Appendix B 

Service Definition – Public Rights of Way 

 

Service Area Definition Policies / 
Procedure/ 
Legislation / 
Guidance 

Risks 

Inspection and 
Maintenance 

Carry out inspections and 
organise maintenance as per 
inspection and maintenance 
policy set out in appendix IM1 

 Defined Outcomes not 
met. 

Risk to users of badly 
maintained network 

Deterioration of network 
furniture 

Impact on Tourism 

Judicial review – failure 
to meet legal duty. 

Clarity required in terms 
of legal support 

Clarify delegated 
authority 

Parish Paths 
Partnership 
Scheme 

 

Scheme 
designed to 
promote local 
ownership of 
paths 
(maintenance) 
and community 
engagement.  

 

 

 

  

This area of work to be promoted 
and developed in line with the HC 
corporate objectives.  

 

Run scheme in accordance with 
P3 guidelines and Inspection and 
Maintenance policy 

 

 

 

 

 

P3 Handbook  - to 
follow 

 

 

 

 

Lack of Community 
engagement 

 

Deterioration in Network 

Insurance provision for 
volunteers 

31



  

Enforcement Carry out enforcement process as 
set out in Enforcement Policy 
subject to below. 

Authorisation required from client 
before proceeding to either legal 
notice stage or prosecution 

All legal notices to be signed off 
by Client. 

Full case file to be compiled in all 
enforcement cases 

In the event of enforced notice, all 
recharges to be used to cover 
costs incurred by Amey and 
Client as allowed by statute. 

In the event of a successful 
prosecutions, any costs awarded 
used to cover costs incurred by 
Amey and Client 

 

 

Clarify delegated 
authority 

 

Increased obstructions 
on Network. 

 

Short term problems 
becoming long term 
problems 

 

Judicial review – failure 
to meet legal duty 

 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

 

Loss of reputation for 
both Amey and 
Herefordshire Council 
through inappropriate 
use of powers 

 

Highways Act 
Diversions 

Diversions to be carried out in 
accordance with Diversion Policy 
and appropriate process notes 
subject to below: 

 

Decision on whether to proceed 
to order making stage to be taken 
by relevant committee, officer of 
Cabinet member in line with 
Client standing orders 

 

All Legal orders to be signed by 
Client Legal Services 

 

Charge levied for this service in 

 

 

 

Unresolved obstructions 
to the network 

 

Impact on outcomes 

 

Loss of income 

 

Back log not reduced 

 

Complaints to 
Ombudsman 

 

32



  

line with costs summary 

 

Clarification of legal 
support required 

Vacant post to be 
transferred 

 

    

Closures 
(Emergency) 

Attend site and inspect reported 
danger. 

 

Assess risk and place emergency 
closure on path if it concluded 
there is a risk of injury or death to 
people or damage to property. 

 

Closure procedure is to physically 
isolate danger if possible, 
complete emergency closure 
notice template and place on site. 
Update path closure database. 

 

Aim to mitigate risk within term of 
emergency closure and re open 
path. 

 

 Danger to users 

 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

Closures 
(Temporary)  

 

Occasionally 
there is a 
requirement to 
close a path for 
a longer period 
for health and 
safety grounds 
of to facilitate 
works taking 
place over or 
along the path.  

 

Procedure for temporarily closing 
paths set out in the attached 

 

A charge is levied for this work 
covering administration and 
statutory advertising 

 Danger to public. 

 

Impact on permitted 
development 

 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

33



  

Closures 
(Works)  

 

Path closures 
for no longer 
than five days 
and needed to 
facilitate works 
are sometimes 
required. 

Full procedures are set out in the 
attached  

 

A charge is levied to cover 
administration 

 Impact on works by 
statutory undertakers. 

 

Danger to users 

 

Closures 
(Events)  

 

Path closures 
are sometimes 
required to 
facilitate events 
(Big Chill for 
example). 

Full procedures are set out in the 
attached  

A charge is levied to cover 
administration. 

 Danger to users 

 

Increased risk for event 
managers 

Publicity and 
Promotion 

Work with Tourism to organise 
and promote events such as the 
Walking festival and UGO. 

 

Promote walking, cycling and 
horse riding through appropriate 
media 

 

Advice on suitability of proposed 
promoted routes. 

 

Work with AONB to promote and 
develop the Wye Valley walk 

Research and develop new 
promoted routes. 

Review and update current 
portfolio of promoted routes 

Apply for funding opportunities 
and ensure all grants are 
monitored and spent in 
accordance with appropriate 

 Loss of Tourism Income 

 

Effect on Health related 
outcomes 

 

Reduction in number of 
grants available to 
Amey as private 
company. Grant 
applications to come 
through client 

34



  

financial requirements. 

Take all opportunities to promote 
the work of the PROW team. 

Work with parish councils and 
promote and support the funding 
of schemes such as Parish Notice 
boards 

 

Modification 
Orders 

Process modification order 
applications in line with 
procedures and statement of 
priorities set out in the attached 

 

Decision on whether to proceed 
to order making stage to be taken 
by relevant committee, officer of 
Cabinet member in line with 
Client standing orders 

 

 No reduction in backlog 

 

Judicial review – failure 
to meet legal duty 

 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

Town and 
Country 
Planning Act 
Diversions  

Diversions to be carried out in 
accordance with Diversion Policy 
set out in the Diversion Policy 
subject to below: 

Decision on whether to proceed 
to order making stage to be taken 
by relevant committee, officer of 
Cabinet member in line with 
Client standing orders 

All Legal orders to be signed by 
Client Legal Services 

 Impact on permitted 
development 

 

 

 

Development Implement prioritised actions set 
out in ROWIP  

 Failure of service to 
progress 

    

Definitive map 
review 

Transformation from paper based 
maps to computerised (GIS) 
Definitive Map & Statement of the 
County of Herefordshire. 

Ongoing requirement to keep the 
Definitive Map and Statement 
under continuous review (in digital 
or paper format) as specified in 

 Judicial review – failure 
to meet legal duty 

 

Out of date information 

 

35



  

sections 53 to 57A of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act, Incorporate 
legal events (including HA and 
TCPA orders, dedications, side-
roads orders, admin boundary 
orders). 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

Parish Paths 
Officer scheme 

Appoint volunteers nominated by 
the Parish to the Parish Paths 
Officer Scheme. 

Volunteer Officers to inspect local 
paths and carry out minor work 
and report faults to the Rights of 
way team. 

Meet with Volunteer officers on a 
regular basis. 

Monitor Scheme and encourage 
participation 

Provide financial support to 
individual volunteer officers in 
terms of expenses 

 Community 
engagement 

Volunteers Encourage and work with groups 
(e.g. Ramblers, Probation 
Service) to carry out work under 
the general supervision of the 
Rights of Way maintenance 
section. 

Provide and monitor financial 
support in terms of expenses 
payments. 

Arrange suitable training. 

Provide suitable support, attend 
meeting etc. 

 Community 
engagement 

Open Access Keep records of any access 
restrictions or exclusions that 
have been granted by Natural 
England 

Erecting signage at access points 
to land.  

Respond to general enquiries 
about the location and usage of 
Open Access land and providing 
advice about permitted activities, 
where issues or conflicts of 

 Restricted access  

36



  

interest arise.  

Refer queries to Natural England 
or the Council's Commons Team. 

Property 
Searches 

Provide paper and electronic 
mapping facilities to members of 
the public, specialist searches 
companies, solicitors and 
potential buyers 

Provide definitive map information 
to other council departments  

 

 Increased possibility of 
PROW being built on 

Dedications Discuss dedication procedure 
with landowners as required. 

Carry out any prescribed 
consultations 

Consult with Client on proposal 

If client is in agreement:- 

Agree payment to landowner if 
required 

Map and prepare order plan of 
new route 

Carry out statutory advertising 

Register change with land registry 

Amend Definitive Map and 
Statement 

 

 Popular routes not 
legally recorded – 
potentially lost 

Planning 
consultations 

Provide recommendations and 
advice to the Council’s Planning 
Services by commenting on 
planning applications and 
planning policies on public rights 
of way matters.   

Consider and apply for S.106 
monies to develop the rights of 
way network in line with 
Herefordshire Council’s S106 
SPD. 

 Impact of development 
on Public Rights of Way 

 

S106 opportunities not 
realised 

37



  

Local Access 
Forum 

Provide  secretariat role for the 
Forum, attend meetings, draw up 
minutes, agendas, organise and 
provide training, recruit members, 
and providing advice, support and 
information to the Forum when 
and where necessary. 

 Failure to meet 
Statutory duty. 

 

Loss of Community 
Engagement 

Foot and mouth 
procedures 

In the event of a foot and mouth 
outbreak take instruction and 
guidance from Herefordshire 
Councils Animal Health and 
Welfare team. 

 Spread of disease 

Performance 
Inspections 

Hereford Council are currently in 
the process of establishing a new 
tool for measuring the usability of 
the rights of way network in terms 
of ease of use 

 

 Effect on outcomes 

Section 31(6) 
deposits 

Discuss with landowners the 
process of s.31 (6) deposits. 

 

Accept, register and record 
deposits in line with current 
legislation and official guidance  

Hold and keep a register of all 
deposits made, which should be 
available for public inspection  

Make an up to date copy of the 
register available on the Council’s 
website.  

Provides advice and suitable 
proformas for the making and 
renewal of deposits. 

 Failure to meet legal 
duty. 

 

Need to clarify legal 
support 

 

38



  

 

Appendix C 

By 30th June 2010 to have achieved the following in respect of PROW: 

  Progress as of 30th 
June 2010 

PPI03 – Defect 
Management 

 

100% of defects reported 
as hazards to be identified 
and made safe within 48 
hours 

Achieved 

 90% of defects reported 
on category 1 route to be 
inspected and prioritised 
within 14 days, 100% 
within 3 months 

Achieved 

 All other defects to be risk 
assessed, prioritised and 
repaired or incorporated 
into known programmes 
of work 

Achieved 

PPI04 – Route 
Categorisation 

To have categorised all 
PROW routes by 30th 
June 2010 

Achieved 

PPI05 – PROW 
Standards 

 

A set of PROW 
Standards will be agreed 
between HC and Amey 
Herefordshire by 30th 
June 2010. These 
standards will apply and 
be measured from 1st 
July  - 31st December 
2010 

Achieved 

PPI10 - Life Cycle 
Management Plans 

 

 A Life Cycle 
Management Plan for 
PROW assets is due to 
be developed as part of 
a wider project to 
produce Life cycle 
management plans  for 
all transport assets 

 

 

 

 

39



40



N
am

e 
o

f 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
:

H
er

ef
o

rd
sh

ir
e

S
h

ro
p

sh
ir

e
C

o
u

n
ci

l
C

o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

ci
l

C
o

u
n

ci
l

1a
T

ot
al

 L
en

gt
h 

of
 n

et
w

or
k 

(k
m

):
 

33
59

55
58

28
17

56
46

16
56

km
1b

P
ub

lic
 F

oo
tp

at
h

29
42

43
24

23
23

45
40

14
99

 k
m

1c
P

ub
lic

 B
rid

le
w

ay
39

4
10

33
48

7
85

7
71

km
1d

R
es

tr
ic

te
d 

B
yw

ay
1

10
9

2
24

4
84

.5
km

1e
B

yw
ay

 O
pe

n 
to

 A
ll 

T
ra

ffi
c

22
92

5
5

1.
5k

m

2d
N

um
be

r 
of

 D
M

M
O

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
bu

t n
ot

 y
et

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 a
s 

at
 3

1/
3/

10
87

54
19

0
85

43

2e
N

um
be

r 
of

 D
M

M
O

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 a
nd

 a
w

ai
tin

g 
th

e 
m

ak
in

g 
as

 a
t 3

1/
3/

10
16

0
5

as
 a

bo
ve

N
il

2f
N

um
be

r 
of

 e
vi

de
nt

ia
l D

M
M

O
s 

m
ad

e 
an

d 
fo

r 
w

hi
ch

 o
bj

ec
tio

ns
 h

av
e 

be
en

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
an

d 
ar

e 
aw

ai
tin

g 
re

fe
rr

al
 to

 S
oS

 a
s 

at
 3

1/
3/

10
6

8
3

47
8

2g
N

um
be

r 
of

 D
M

M
O

 a
pp

lic
at

io
ns

 d
et

er
m

in
ed

 b
et

w
ee

n 
1/

4/
09

 -
 3

1/
3/

10
2

4
8

0
N

il

2h
A

ve
ra

ge
 le

ng
th

 o
f t

im
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

re
ce

ip
t o

f a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

an
d 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

n 
fo

r 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 in

 2
g 

ab
ov

e.
12

.6
 y

rs
2 

yr
s

no
t k

no
w

n
n/

a
M

an
y 

ye
ar

s
2i

N
um

be
r 

of
 e

vi
de

nt
ia

l D
M

M
O

s 
co

nf
irm

ed
 b

et
w

ee
n 

1/
4/

09
 -

 3
1/

3/
10

0
5

0
7

N
il

3a
N

um
be

r 
of

 P
P

O
s 

th
at

 w
er

e 
co

nf
irm

ed
 b

et
w

ee
n 

1/
4/

09
 -

 3
1/

3/
10

7
30

11
2 

or
 3

3b
N

um
be

r 
of

 P
P

O
 a

pp
lic

at
io

ns
 a

w
ai

tin
g 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

n 
at

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
0?

72
13

73
98

20
 to

 3
0

3c
A

ve
ra

ge
 le

ng
th

 o
f t

im
e 

be
tw

ee
n 

re
ce

ip
t o

f H
ig

hw
ay

s 
A

ct
 P

P
O

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

an
d 

its
 

de
te

rm
in

at
io

n,
 fo

r 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

ns
 d

et
er

m
in

ed
 b

et
w

ee
n 

1/
4/

09
 -

 3
1/

3/
10

?
9.

5 
ye

ar
s

8 
m

on
th

s
no

t k
no

w
n

18
 m

on
th

s
1 

to
 3

 y
ea

rs

D
ur

in
g 

1/
4/

09
 -

 3
1/

3/
10

 h
ow

 m
an

y:
0

4c
en

fo
rc

em
en

t n
ot

ic
es

 s
er

ve
d?

0
5

5
0

4e
P

ro
se

cu
tio

ns
 in

iti
at

ed
?

0
2

no
t k

no
w

n
0

55
6 

en
f i

ss
ue

s
no

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

el
y 

ho
w

 m
an

y 
ou

ts
ta

nd
in

g 
m

ai
nt

en
an

ce
 is

su
es

 o
f t

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

ty
pe

 d
o 

yo
u 

cu
rr

en
tly

 h
av

e?
6a

·  
   

   
R

ep
ai

r 
or

 r
ep

la
ce

m
en

t o
f s

til
es

 / 
ga

te
s

11
67

37
5

18
4/

14
3

15
4 

st
ile

s,
 6

7 
ga

te
s

6b
·  

   
   

R
ep

ai
r 

or
 r

ep
la

ce
m

en
t o

f b
rid

ge
s

26
12

0
56

21
1 

br
id

ge
s

6c
·  

   
   

R
ep

ai
r 

or
 r

ep
la

ce
m

en
t o

f s
ig

ns
 / 

w
ay

m
ar

ks
75

8
55

0
11

9
13

75
 f-

po
st

s 
an

d 
W

m
ar

ke
rs

6d
·  

   
   

S
ur

fa
ci

ng
12

0
18

3
68

 s
ur

fa
ce

 &
 s

lo
pe

s
6e

·  
   

   
D

ra
in

ag
e

10
0

50
17

20
 d

ra
in

ag
e

6f
·  

   
   

C
le

ar
an

ce
 o

f v
eg

et
at

io
n/

ov
er

gr
ow

th
67

7
12

5
12

8
31

9 
cl

ea
ra

nc
e

7a
T

ot
al

 N
um

be
r 

of
 s

ta
ff 

at
 3

1/
3/

20
10

 (
pl

ea
se

 in
di

ca
te

 ft
e)

11
.2

24
21

14
10

P
le

as
e 

in
di

ca
te

 a
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e 
fte

 s
ta

ffi
ng

 o
n 

ea
ch

 o
f t

he
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

ar
ea

s 
of

 w
or

k:

7b
D

ef
in

iti
ve

 M
ap

 &
 D

M
M

O
s

2
3.

5
3

1
1

7c
P

ub
lic

 P
at

h 
O

rd
er

s
1.

2
1

1
1

1.
5

7d
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t C

on
tr

ol
 / 

P
la

nn
in

g
0.

75
0.

5
1

7.
75

0
7e

M
ai

nt
en

an
ce

3.
5

11
8.

48
as

 a
bo

ve
3

7f
E

nf
or

ce
m

en
t

0.
4

3
0.

5
as

 a
bo

ve
1

7h
R

O
W

IP
 / 

Im
pr

ov
em

en
t P

la
nn

in
g

0.
25

1
1.

4
0.

25
1.

5
7i

P
ro

m
ot

io
n

0
0

0
0.

25
0

7k
G

IS
 / 

co
un

tr
ys

id
e 

ac
ce

ss
 m

ap
 s

ys
te

m
 m

an
ag

em
en

t
1

1
1

1
1

7l
P

ol
ic

y 
an

d 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f r

ig
ht

s 
of

 w
ay

/c
ou

nt
ry

si
de

 a
cc

es
s

1
1

1.
25

1
1

7m
V

ol
un

te
er

 c
o-

or
di

na
tio

n 
&

 m
an

ag
em

en
t

0.
3

1
1

0.
25

0
7n

Lo
ca

l A
cc

es
s 

F
or

um
 s

ec
re

ta
ria

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

0.
2

0
0.

25
0.

25
0

7o
O

th
er

 (
pl

ea
se

 s
pe

ci
fy

)
0.

6
1

2.
18

3 
st

af
f o

n 
co

nt
ra

ct
.

7p
A

re
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 a
bo

ve
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 u
nd

er
ta

ke
n 

by
 s

ta
ff 

in
 o

th
er

 p
ar

ts
 o

f t
he

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n?
If 

"y
es

",
 p

le
as

e 
in

di
ca

te
 in

 c
om

m
en

ts
 s

ec
tio

n 
lo

ca
tio

n 
in

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

n,
 a

pp
ro

xi
m

at
e 

nu
m

be
rs

 o
f s

ta
ff 

an
d 

w
ha

t t
he

y 
do

.

Le
ga

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
(?

),
 A

dm
in

 
(0

.2
5)

N
o

Y
es

Y
es

 m
ay

be
 2

- 
3 

or
 s

o 
fte

 
Le

ga
l s

er
vi

ce
s,

 a
dm

in

7q
S

ta
ffi

ng
 b

ud
ge

t (
£K

)
30

6,
00

0
53

6,
00

0
53

0k
£5

50
k

25
0k

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l b

ud
ge

t (
£k

)
7r

·  
   

  R
ev

en
ue

25
2,

00
0

13
7,

00
0

33
7k

£3
00

k
£4

0,
98

4
7s

·  
   

  C
ap

ita
l (

LT
P

)
45

00
0

50
k

ni
l

7t
·  

   
  C

ap
ita

l (
O

th
er

)
0

32
0,

00
0

75
K

ni
l

£5
0,

00
0

O
pe

ra
tio

na
l I

nc
om

e 
ta

rg
et

7u
·  

   
   

R
ev

en
ue

 (
£)

56
00

£4
8,

00
0

35
k

£6
0k

1
EXTENT OF 
NETWORK

2

Definitive Map

3

PUBLIC 
PATH 

ORDERS 

4

NOTICE
S & 

ENFORC

7

STAFFING & BUDGETS

6

MAINTENANCE 
ISSUES

41



42



 

 
Further information on the subject of this report is available from 

Andrew Ashcroft, Assistant Director – Environment, Planning and Waste on (01432) 383098 
  

MEETING: ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 13 JULY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: UPDATE ON OPERATION OF PLANNING 
COMMITTEE AND ENFORCEMENT FUNCTION 

REPORT BY:  ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – ENVIRONMENT, 
PLANNING AND WASTE 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

 

Purpose 

To update the Committee on progress of both the single Planning Committee and the enforcement 
function. 

Recommendation 

 THAT: the report be noted 

Key Points Summary 

• The single Planning Committee had been operational since January 2010.  This report provides 
a report on its activities for these six months. 

• The recent restructuring of the Planning Service has brought about the creation of a dedicated 
enforcement team.  Its primary objective is to raise the level, intensity and monitoring of the 
enforcement regime under the Town and Country Planning Acts.  The report sets out details of 
recent enforcement activity. 

Alternative Options 

1 This report sets out the workings of the Planning Committee from January to June 2010.  The 
creation of the single Planning Committee was itself the subject of much discussion, debate 
and the consideration of various options. 

2 The Council could decide not to focus its resources and efforts on planning enforcement.  
However in recent months there has been an agreement between both officers and members 
that this part of the planning function needs to be strengthened. 

Reasons for Recommendations 

3 These matters have been the subject of interest to the Committee for some time. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

43



Introduction and Background 

4 The introduction of the single Planning Committee followed on from detailed scrutiny process 
last year of the operation of the development control system in the Council.  An external report 
(from the Audit Commission) and an internal report (from a working group of your Committee) 
made a series of recommendations that were incorporated into a single Action Plan. 

5 The Council has a responsibility to administer an enforcement function as part of its discharge 
of the Town and Country Planning Acts.  There is significant discretion given to local 
authorities on how to discharge these functions. 

Key Considerations 

  Operation of the new Planning Committee (Jan – June 2010) 

6 The Committee has met on seven occasions. 

 The Committee has considered the following number of applications (in some cases 
applications have been reported to / considered by the Committee at two meetings). 

 10 February  11  
24 February    2  
17 March    2  
30 March    1 (special ESG meeting)  
14 April    9  
12 May     7  
30 June    2 

7 The Committee meetings have largely reflected the number of applications in terms of their 
length.  The duration of the meetings has been as follows:- 

 10 February  10.00 – 16.30  
24 February  10.00 – 10.40  
17 March  10.00 – 12.25  
30 March  10.00 – 12.30  
14 April  10.00 – 17.00  
12 May   10.00 – 14.40  
30 June  10.00 – 11.20 

 The initial throughput of residual applications from 2009 (and which would have otherwise 
have been reported to the former area sub-committees) has now been cleared.  This is 
reflected in the more recent ability of the Committee to concentrate on key strategic 
applications.  The cycle of meetings for 2010/11 has also been amended to introduce three 
weekly meetings (rather than the previous four weekly cycle). 

8 Key associated elements of the revised Constitution are also now firmly embedded in working 
practices.  The member request system for applications to be redirected to Committee is 
working well.  Twenty-four redirection requests have been made by ward members.  Twelve 
have resulted in redirections of applications to the Committee.   

9 The Committee has received two training events.  The Monitoring Officer has provided advice 
on the operation of the Constitution and the organisation of the meetings themselves.  The 
Planning Services’ Landscape and Biodiversity team has also addressed a very-well received 
training event on its input into the planning process. 

44



10 Key issues for the future appear to be:- 

(a) maintaining the ongoing communication/relationship between ward members and 
case officers; 

(b) providing improved clarity to Members on the outcome of requests for redirection of 
applications to Committee; 

(c) ongoing monitoring of the operation of the new Constitution insofar as it relates to the 
Planning function; 

(d) ensuring that the ward member / case officer relationship is translated through into 
the new enforcement function. 

 Enforcement 

11 Part VII of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides the context for local planning 
authorities to take enforcement action in respect of breaches of planning control.  
Enforcement powers may be invoked where development has been carried out without the 
requisite grant of planning permission, or a condition imposed on a planning permission has 
been breached. 

12 This is a self-contained code.  Enforcement powers for other special controls, such as 
planning obligations, tree preservation orders and listed buildings, are conferred separately. 

13 The 1990 Act represented a further ratcheting-up of the enforcement provisions.  In particular 
it introduced a wider range of powers available to a local planning to use in its armoury to 
seek to control and regulate unauthorised development.  Appendix 1 summarises the principal 
elements of the legislation. 

14 In recent years enforcement activity has been as follows:- 

 2008 2009 2010 (to date) 

Complaints received  
Enforcement Notices  
Planning Contravention Notices  
Section 215 Notices 

655 
  24 
  80 
    0 

552 
  16 
  33 
    0 

237 
    7 
  27 
    0 

 

15 In June 2010, and as part of the wider review of the new Environment, Planning and Waste 
Division (in which the planning function now sits) a separate enforcement team has been 
established in the Development Management part of the Service.  It has a separate manager, 
and has been charged with bringing a sharper focus to the level, intensity and monitoring of 
the enforcement regime under the Town and Country Planning Acts. 

16 Key elements for the focus of the enforcement team will include:- 

(a) updating and clarifying the Enforcement Protocol; 

(b) providing structured and timely feedback to complainants; 

(c) providing appropriate information to ward members; 

(d) making appropriate linkages to the work of the Planning Obligations Manager; 

45



(e) providing a detailed monitoring system on development sites which by their nature 
are either sensitive, or which have been the subject of particular local scrutiny or 
debate. 

Community Impact 

17 Strong enforcement action will assist in giving local communities the confidence that the built 
and natural environments are being maintained, and that democratic planning decisions are 
correctly implemented. 

Financial Implications 

18 The cost of the existing enforcement team is met from base budgets.  The pro-active chasing 
of unauthorised developments can generate fee income through the submission of 
retrospective applications. 

Legal Implications 

19 The Enforcement Team works closely with the Council’s legal officers. 

Risk Management 

20 Appropriate assessments are undertaken on costs and benefits of taking action.  Particular 
care is taken when the Council may be at risk of compensation action claims (see Appendix 1). 

Consultees 

21 None identified  

Appendices 

22 Appendix 1 : The Planning Enforcement Toolkit 

Background Papers 

• None identified. 

46



APPENDIX 1 

The Planning Enforcement Toolkit 
 
 
 
The Planning Contravention Notice (PCN) 
 
A PCN requires the recipient of such a notice to provide any information the local 
planning authority want for enforcement purposes about activities on land.  It may 
either establish that there has been no breach of planning control, or the 
circumstances that may generate the need to take enforcement action. 
 
Non-compliance with any requirement of a notice, after 21 days, is an office.  Equally 
it is an offence if information is supplied that is knowingly false or misleading. 
 
 
The Enforcement Notice (EN) 
 
The power to issue an EN is discretionary.  An EN requires remedial steps to be 
taken within a specified time-limit.  It should only be used where the local planning 
authority is satisfied that there has been a breach of planning control and it is 
expedient to issue a notice, having regard to the provisions of the development plan 
and to any other material considerations.  ENs can be directed (if required) at only 
part of a breach of planning control. 
 
There are very specific time limits for the serving of ENs. 
 
There are rights of appeal against Enforcement Notices. 
 
 
The Stop Notice (SN) 
 
The Acts allow a local planning authority to serve a SN in certain circumstances 
when they serve a copy of an EN, or afterwards. 
 
Where a local planning authority considers that it is expedient that any activity should 
cease before the expiry of the compliance period specified in an EN, Section 183(i) of 
the Act enables a local planning authority to serve a SN which prohibits the carrying 
out of that activity on the enforcement notice land. 
 
There are penalties for non-compliance with a SN. 
 
Local planning authorities are encouraged to carry out a cost / benefit assessment 
before serving a SN. 
 
There is no right of appeal against a SN.  The appeal is in respect of the associated 
EN. 
 
In certain circumstances the local planning authority may be liable for compensation 
in consequence of a SN. 
 
 
 
 
 

47



APPENDIX 1 

The Breach of Conditions Notice (BCN) 
 
The BCN is mainly intended as an alternative to any EN for remedying a breach of 
planning control arising from failure to comply with any planning condition or 
limitation.  But it may also be served in addition to the issue of an EN, perhaps as an 
alternative to a SN, where the local planning authority consider it expedient to stop 
the breach quickly and before any appeal against the EN is determined. 
 
There are penalties for contravening a BCN. 
 
There is no right of appeal against a BCN. 
 
 
Injunction Proceedings 
 
Section 187B of the Act enables a local planning authority where they consider it 
expedient for any actual or apprehended breach of planning control to be restrained, 
to apply to the High Court or County Court for an injunction.  As such applications 
can be made whether or not the local planning authority have exercised, or proposed 
to exercise, any of their other powers to enforce planning control. 
 
 
Section 215 Notices 
 
This section of the Act provides a local planning authority with the power to take 
steps requiring land to be cleaned up when its condition affects the amenity of the 
area. 
 
The use of Section 215 Notices is discretionary.  It is for local planning authorities to 
decide whether a notice under these provisions would be appropriate in a particular 
case. 
 
Appeals against Section 215 Notices are to the Magistrates Court. 

48



 

 
 Further information on the subject of this report is available from 
 Paul James, Democratic Services Officer, on 01432 260460 

MEETING: ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

DATE: 13 JULY 2010 

TITLE OF REPORT: WORK PROGRAMME 

REPORT BY:  Democratic Services Officer 

CLASSIFICATION: Open  

Wards Affected 

County-wide. 

Purpose 

To consider the Committee’s work programme. 

Recommendation 

 THAT subject to any comment or issues raised by the Committee the 
Committee work programme be recommended to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for approval. 

Introduction and Background 

1.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is responsible for overseeing, co-ordinating 
and approving the work programme of the Committee, and is required to periodically 
review the scrutiny committees work programmes to ensure that overview and 
scrutiny is effective, that there is an efficient use of scrutiny resources and that 
potential duplication of effort by scrutiny members is minimised.   

2.  The work programme, set out at Appendix 1, may be modified by the Chairman 
following consultation with the Vice-Chairman and the Directors in response to 
changing circumstances. 

3.  Should any urgent, prominent or high profile issue arise, the Chairman may consider 
calling an additional meeting to consider that issue. 

4.  Should Members become aware of any issues they consider may be added to the 
scrutiny programme they should contact the Democratic Services Officer to log the 
issue so that it may be taken into consideration by the Chairman when planning 
future agendas or when revising the work programme. 

Background Papers 
• None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 8

49



50



 ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 

For consideration by Committee 13 July 2010 
 
 

9.30am 13 September 2010 

 • Good Environmental Management (GEM) – end of year 
performance report. 

• ** Consideration of the draft LTP3 
• Safer Roads Partnership – Update by Council’s 

Member on SRP Board.  
• Further update on Connect 2 Greenway scheme. 

• Progress report on actions following the Scrutiny 
Review of On-Street Parking. 

• Capital Budget Monitoring 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 

• Report on Performance Indicators. 
• Committee Work Programme 

 
 
 

9.30am 26 November 2010 

 • Further update on the Review of the Travellers’ Policy 

• County Rail Facilities – update by Cabinet Member 
following discussions with providers. 

• Further update on Council Vehicle Fleet Review 
• Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 
• Report on Performance Indicators. 

• Committee Work Programme 
 
 
 

9.30am 28 February 2011 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 

• Report on Performance Indicators. 

• Committee Work Programme 
 
 
 

June/July 2011 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring 

• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 
• Report on Performance Indicators. 

• Committee Work Programme 
 

51



 
September/October 2011 

 • Capital Budget Monitoring 
• Revenue Budget Monitoring. 

• Report on Performance Indicators. 
• Committee Work Programme 

 
 
 
Items for consideration as the programme is further developed: 
• The effect on Herefordshire of changes to the Single Farm Payments system (e.g. 

hedge cutting, drainage ditch clearance) 
• Any specific issues arising from Council Strategies or Plans. 
• **Contribute to policy development of LTP3. Draft timetable for the policy review 

indicates this could come to scrutiny in September 2010. 
• Consideration of revised/reviewed Flood Defence Policy. 
• Consider inviting the Environment Agency to discuss the environmental impact, of the 

Open Windrow Greenwaste composting facility at Morton-on-Lugg. (Minute 60 – 
Committee work programme and Minute 64) 

• Colwall Railway Bridge – review any traffic/pedestrian safety issues arising (see Minute 
65 of 20.4.09) 

 

52


	Agenda
	
	5 The Herefordshire Local Access Forum
	HLAF presentation_Appendix 1
	LAF TERMS OF REFERENCE

	6 A Review of the Rights of Way Service Performance and Outcomes
	PROW Appendix D Benchmarking data (1)

	7 Update on Operation of Planning Committee and Enforcement Function
	The Planning Enforcement Toolkit Ap1

	8 Committee Work Programme
	2 - for consideration13 July 2010


